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1.		Students	from	St.	Nicholas’s	National	School,	Dundalk	being	hosted	by	students	from	
	 St.	Malachy’s	Primary	School,	County	Armagh	during	module	3	of	the	Hand	of	Friendship	Project.
2.		Participants	on	the	Youth	for	Peace	–	Moving	Forward	Together	Project	pictured	
	 before	taking	to	the	waters.
3.		Clonduff	Cregagh	Transition	Group	bring	residents	of	Cregagh	and	Clonduff	together.	
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Chairman’s 
 Foreword



Sustaining and building upon the peace process on the island 
of Ireland is a task that requires constant work. The year under 
review has been a very active one for the International Fund 
for Ireland and while it has brought many successes and strong 
progress it has also served to highlight the major challenges 
that remain to be tackled.

1.
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Chairman’s Foreword

1.	Pictured	at	the	site	of	the	new	£1.5	
million	YMCA	in	Lurgan	were:	John	O’Dowd	
MLA,	Minister	for	Education	(centre	left)	
and	Dr	Denis	Rooney	CBE,	Chairman	of	the	
International	Fund	for	Ireland	(centre	right)	
with	YMCA	representatives.

During the year the Fund committed 
some £27million / €31million under 
a range of programmes in Northern 
Ireland and the southern border 
counties in support of its objective 
to promote integration and tackle 
on-going segregation between 
Unionists and Nationalists.

This report describes the progress 
of these programmes and I hope 
that, through the case studies, 
it captures some of the real-life 
experiences of those involved in 
the projects we fund and those 
who are benefiting from them. 
There are many powerful 
testimonies to the fact that 
without the financial assistance 
of the Fund, many interactions 
between communities and people, 
who would never have previously 
engaged with each other, would 
simply not be possible.
 
As Chairman I am fortunate to be 
able to talk to many people who 
are personally responding to the 
challenges of a shared future - many 
of them from communities which 

are marginalised and disadvantaged 
and where the legacy of paramilitary 
influence is still evident. The 
willingness of such people, from 
all generations, to move forward 
- and their courage in doing so - 
deserves respect, admiration and 
our continuing support. 

Others that we seek to support are 
socially isolated - and not always 
because they live in scattered rural 
communities. Providing them with 
opportunities to meet others and 
to share their life experiences, 
stories and interests is a key part of 
the process of integrating the two 
communities. The Fund has also 
made significant commitments under 
its Leaving a Legacy Programme to 
ensure that our work over the past 
25 years is sustainable and can be 
taken forward beyond the lifetime 
of the Fund itself. In Lurgan, County 
Armagh - a town where community 
tensions still run high - we are 
helping to fund a new building for 
Lurgan YMCA which will boost its 
work with young people to tackle 
sectarianism and gang involvement.
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Of course the Fund does not operate 
in a vacuum. Our work over the years 
has been conducted in parallel with a 
political process which, in Northern 
Ireland, has led to the restoration 
of legislative and executive powers. 
There is now much greater political 
stability but peace itself remains 
a fragile thing and many threats 
still exist.

We continue to focus on creating 
cross-community as well as cross-
border opportunities for young people 
- encouraging dialogue and mutual 
understanding as well as addressing 
the needs of young people in skills 
development, education and self-
esteem. We also continue to deliver 
novel community projects which 
promote reconciliation. During the 
year, a significant proportion of our 
funding was devoted to the Sharing 
in Education Programme which 
supports our strategic objectives by 
enabling young people to participate 
in shared educational experiences. A 
major conference in September 2011 
of all the parties involved reviewed 

the experience of four years of this 
programme and explored new models 
for sharing. Our intervention has been 
more successful than we anticipated 
and there are now 150 schools 
working together in 44 separate 
partnerships involving more than 
10,000 pupils. We continue to drive 
the shared education agenda and 
urge all stakeholders to agree 
a pathway to a truly shared 
education system.

Building a lasting peace is not just 
about a reduction in violence, nor is 
it solely about communities coming 
to terms with their neighbours. As 
long as the structural divisions in our 
society remain, the ultimate goal will 
be more difficult - if not impossible 
- to achieve. While the Fund’s 
intervention is critical in helping 
communities to overcome some of 
these structural divisions, I believe 
wider society must understand the 
need to deal with the continuing high 
level of segregation in education and 
housing in order to bring about a 
long-term shared future. 
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“Sustaining and 
building upon the peace 
process on the island 
of Ireland is a task 
that requires constant 
work.”

Denis Rooney
Chairman, International 
Fund for Ireland

2.

2.	Delegates	discuss	the	future	of	shared	
education	at	the	Shared	Education	Learning	
Forum	Conference,	Belfast.
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The more rapid progress required 
calls for leadership across the board, 
from politicians to religious and 
community figures, and there are 
encouraging indications that this can 
be forthcoming. The Fund, because it 
is neutral and internationally funded, 
has been able to act flexibly and 
innovatively without the constraints 
that are felt by governments and 
political parties and we have therefore 
been able to point the way to a better 
future by demonstrating just how 
Unionists and Nationalists can live, 
work and be educated together. 

We believe the momentum we have 
created towards a truly shared society 
is gathering pace but, equally, there 
are threats to progress including the 
impact of government spending cuts 
and rising unemployment which can 
create a risk of community unrest, as 
well as the fact that people living in 
many communities do not feel that 
they are enjoying the benefits of the 
peace process.

Our donors deserve the Fund’s 
grateful thanks for the financial 
assistance which has enabled us to 
help so many people make a shared 
journey in peace and harmony. 

I would also pay tribute to my 
colleagues on the Board whose 
contribution to our work has 
been unstinting.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, 
I would like to thank the Joint 
Chairs and members of the Inter 
Governmental Advisory Committee 
for their guidance and advice, and 
the Secretariat, our Development 
Officers, agents and partners for 
their on-going efforts to deliver 
programmes that make a real 
difference to people’s lives.

Chairman’s Foreword

3.	Fund	Chairman	Dr	Denis	Rooney	CBE,	addresses	
the	Forum	for	Cities	in	Transition	2011	Annual	
Conference,	Londonderry/Derry.

“There are many 
powerful testimonies 

to the fact that without 
the financial assistance 

of the Fund, many 
interactions between 

communities and 
people... would simply 

not be possible.”

Denis Rooney
Chairman, International 

Fund for Ireland
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The 
Board 
The Board of the International Fund for Ireland 
is appointed jointly by the British and Irish Governments. 
Representatives of the United States of America, the European Union, 
Canada, Australia, and New Zealand attend meetings of the Board.
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The Board

Pictured are (L-R): 

Mr Winston Patterson 
Dr Adrian Johnston
Mrs Anne Henderson
Dr Denis Rooney CBE, Chairman
Ms Mary Southwell
Mr David Graham OBE
Ms Rose-Mary Farrell

The European Union and Governments of the United States of America, 
Canada, Australia, and New Zealand were represented this year by: 
Ms Agnes Lindemans-Maes, and Ms Tamara Pavlin, European Union; 
Mr Dan Hynes, Ms Stella O’Leary, and Mr Robert T. Waters, United States 
of America; Mr Brian Doherty, Canada; His Excellency, Bruce Davis, Australia; 
and His Excellency, Derek Leask, New Zealand.



Australia

The European Union

Canada

The United States 
of America

New Zealand
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Introduction
The International Fund for Ireland was established as an independent 

international organisation by the British and Irish Governments in 1986. 
With contributions from the United States of America, the European 

Union, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand, the total resources 
committed by the Fund to date amount to £695million/€869million.* 

The objectives of the Fund are:

• to promote economic and social advance; and
• to encourage contact, dialogue and reconciliation between

  Unionists and Nationalists throughout Ireland.



9

The Board of the Fund is appointed jointly by the British and Irish 
Governments. It is assisted by an Advisory Committee comprising 
officials appointed by the two Governments.

The administration of the Fund is 
provided by a Secretariat, headed 
by Joint Directors General, based in 
Belfast and Dublin. A range of bodies, 
including government departments, 
act as administering agencies for 
the Fund. In addition, the Fund has 
engaged the services of a team of 
Development Officers, located across 
the southern border counties, who 
act as local contact points and assist 
prospective applicants to identify and 
develop proposals. They also monitor 
the ongoing operation of projects, 
providing assistance as necessary.

1.	Fund	Chairman	Dr	Denis	Rooney	CBE	launching	Our	Club,	Our	
Community	Programme	at	Glentoran	Football	Club	with	Padraig	
Slane	(aged	11)	of	Glentoran	Academy	and	Pierce	Hanna	(aged	10)	
from	Cromac	Sporting.	Also	pictured	are	from	left:	Councillor	Niall	
Ó	Donnghaile,	Lord	Mayor	of	Belfast;	Terence	Brannigan,	Chairman	
of	Glentoran	Football	Club;	Carál	Ní	Chuilín	MLA,	Minister	for	Sport;	
Jonathan	Bell	MLA,	OFMDFM	Junior	Minister;	and	Councillor	Máire	
Hendron,	Belfast	City	Council	Good	Relations	Partnership.

1.

This report, which covers the period 
1 October 2010 to 30 September 
2011, is presented by the Board to the 
Government of the United Kingdom, 
the Government of Ireland, the 
Northern Ireland Assembly and the 
Fund’s donors in accordance with 
Article 12 of the Agreement of 18 
September 1986, as amended, 
by which the International Fund 
for Ireland was established.

The Fund’s programmes cluster 
around four key areas: Building 
Foundations; Building Bridges; 
Building Integration; and Leaving 
a Legacy. All programmes are 
characterised by:

* The Sterling/Euro conversion rate at 30 September 2011 is applied throughout this report.

Introduction

• a clear focus on reconciliation 
 as the over-riding objective;

• an independent and credible   
 approach with strong
  international backing;

• a cross-community, 
 cross-border approach;

• a willingness to take risks 
 on behalf of local communities;

• early support for community   
 initiatives;

• co-operation with other 
 funders and leverage of 
 funds from other sources;

• a willingness to innovate 
 and to break new ground in   
 support of reconciliation; and

• a responsive approach 
 to donor priorities.



Building 
 Foundations
Building Foundations Programmes are active in the most 
marginalised communities of Northern Ireland and the southern 
border counties, working to promote peace and reconciliation and 
create the conditions for a long-term shared future. Each of the 
programmes addresses key issues of deprivation, social cohesion, 
and community leadership in order to help make community-led 
change possible and sustainable.

10
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Building Foundations

Youth	Outreach	Worker	Megan	McIlveen	leads	
a	session	of	the	Romance	Academy	Project	

at	JIMS	Youth	Club	Kilkeel,	County	Down.			
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The Community Based Economic and Social Regeneration Programme aims 
to help the most socially and economically disadvantaged regions in Northern 
Ireland and the southern border counties. The programme seeks to achieve 
community development and sustainable reconciliation through the funding of 
cross-community and cross-border projects capable of delivering real change 
for those living within the area. Projects include capital development and/or 
support for programmes of activity over a two to three year period. 

The Community 
Based Economic and 
Social Regeneration 
Programme  

Taking	Far	Off	Fields	to	the	
stage	at	the	Balor	Arts	Centre.



Building Foundations

“This is a great 
cross-border 

project because 
people from 

different sides 
of the border 
can bond and 

we are the 
next generation 

and we are 
awesome!” 

Conor,
County Tyrone 

Aged 14.

Balor Development Community Arts (DCA) in Ballybofey and the Alley Arts Centre in 
Strabane were granted financial assistance from the International Fund for Ireland in 
2009 to implement a three-year cross-border and cross-community reconciliation project 
called Shared Past - Shared Future. The aim of the arts related project is to build on the 
success of the Fund supported Crossing Bridges Project, which clearly demonstrated how 
the arts can have a direct and powerful impact on reconciliation; helping participants 
learn new skills and build life-long friendships with others from different backgrounds.

The title of the Shared Past - Shared 
Future Project encapsulates the 
two key elements of the project, one 
focused on highlighting our shared 
heritage and the other involving a 
performing arts summer camp for 
young people in the border region.

In highlighting our shared heritage 
Balor DCA is exploring some of the 
stories in our shared past such as 
the Plantation of Ulster. The group 
has commissioned new writings 
and is creating new works that are 
introducing these shared cultural 
references and legends to new 
audiences. In this way, audiences are 
being introduced to the concept of 
reconciliation in an historical context 
through the arts. The showcase 
production that was performed was 
Far Off Fields. The play was a huge 
success and in addition to a run 
in both the Balor Arts Centre and 
the Alley Arts Centre, the play also 
reached out to a wider audience 
through a comprehensive roadshow, 
touring schools and community 
groups across the North West region.  

In the Performing Arts Summer 
Camp for Border Youth, Balor DCA 
and Alley Arts Centre have focused 
on the fusion of new relationships 
among young people on a cross-
border and cross-community basis. 
Summer camps took place over 
four weeks during the summers of 
2009, 2010 and 2011, involving the 
participation of 40 young people on a 
cross-border and cross-community 
basis, working together to create 
an artistic product that was then 
performed on stage.

Providing feedback on the results 
of the project, John Gallagher, 
Board Member of Balor DCA, said: 
“The success of the project has 
been based on the fact that the 
young participants fully engaged in 
the process as the arts represented 
something that they were passionate 
about. It was this commitment that 
ensured that engagement with 
individuals from other communities 
became forged and friendships 
became long-term and sustainable. 
We are sincerely indebted to the 
International Fund for Ireland for 
their support in making this 
cross-border project so successful.” 

A New Vision for Young People
Case study: Balor DCA - Shared Past - Shared Future.
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For more than ten years, JIMS Youth Club in Kilkeel, County Down has been welcoming 
young people from the local Unionist and Nationalist communities to their cross-community 
drop-in centre and helping to forge relations and foster friendships.   

One of its latest projects has been 
developed in response to the needs 
of the town’s young people as it 
builds upon the existing relationship 
between JIMS and Kingdom Youth 
Club to encourage cross-community 
relations and peace building.  

As a largely Protestant town 
surrounded by Catholic hamlets 
and villages, Kilkeel has endured 
a history of sectarianism. In 2000, 
JIMS, led by Kilkeel Parish Bridge 
Association, was founded to address 
the rise of anti-social behaviour. It 
quickly established itself as a force 
for good in bringing young people 
together in a neutral setting - which 
was a huge step forward for the area. 
It was also at the forefront of 
supporting young people with 
welfare and advice services. 

As a mainly Protestant organisation, 
JIMS formed a relationship with 
the Kingdom Youth Club whose 
members are mainly from the 
Catholic/Nationalist community. 
This bridge-building was successful 
and helped to establish good relations 
between the two groups - and JIMS 
saw the potential to develop the 
project further.   

As Ivan Henderson, JIMS Project 
Manager, explains: “We wanted to 
attract all young people from the 
local community regardless of 
their background.”  

With the Fund’s support, JIMS now 
employs a full time youth worker 
and is able to offer activities which 
cater for all ages. The midnight 
soccer tournaments held at the 
GAA club have drawn teams from 
all over the area. The accompanying 
themed workshops have covered 
topics from mental development to 
uniting against hate. Professional 
coaching in Gaelic games, soccer, 
American football and rugby is 
also part of the project. 

The Romance Academy, a 
programme for 15-18 year olds who 
come together to discuss issues and 
help to make the right relationship 
and lifestyle choices, is very popular. 
There is also an after-school drop-in 
for those aged 11-13 and a youth club 
held on Friday and Saturday nights 
which regularly attracts up to 60 
young people.

Bridging the Divide 
to Foster Friendships

Ivan Henderson adds: “When we run 
activities like the soccer tournament 
young people get to know each 
other and friendships develop which 
flourish beyond JIMS. 
 
“JIMS simply gives young people 
the opportunity to come together. 
Through shared activities and 
discussions we help to break down 
myths and they realise they’re not 
different from their neighbours - just 
young people with the same problems 
making their way in life.  

“It’s important that the work at 
JIMS goes on. While we work with 
young people of all ages, we focus 
much of our effort on teenagers 
as they’re so often the ones with the 
preconceptions and misconceptions. 
Every three years we’re touching 
another generation, supporting them 
with vital services and providing a 
rich and varied programme of activity 
where strong and lasting friendships 
are formed.”   

Case Study: JimS Youth Club.

Taking	part	in	the	popular	
Romance	Academy	run	by	

JIMS	Youth	Club	in	Kilkeel,	
County	Down.							



Building Foundations
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The Communities in Transition Programme 
is one of the Fund’s key initiatives that seeks 
to address deeply rooted social, economic and 
political problems. The programme focuses on areas 
with poor community infrastructure which experience 
ongoing community tension and alienation. It operates at a 
grassroots level and mobilises local people to encourage 
self-help within these marginalised communities. The Fund 
originally allocated £2.1 million towards the programme.

The Communities in Transition Programme has proved successful in 
empowering communities to exercise a greater influence on developments 
in their own areas. The Communities in Transition Programme is delivered 
on behalf of the Fund by the Community Foundation for Northern Ireland.

In June 2010, the Board of the International Fund for Ireland approved an extension 
to the timeframe for the Communities in Transition Programme to December 2012 and 
additional financial assistance of £208,000.

Communities 
in Transition 
Programme 2

Clonduff	Cregagh	Transition	Group	bring	
residents	of	Cregagh	and	Clonduff	together.	
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Clonduff and Cregagh are two large, mainly Protestant, housing estates in East Belfast, 
both previously subject to Loyalist paramilitary influence but each historically linked to 
different and opposed Loyalist groupings. Both communities faced similar issues and yet 
prior to joining the Communities in Transition Programme 2 neither had formally worked 
with each other. 

In 2008 the programme brought the 
two estates together in partnership for 
the first time to establish the Clonduff 
Cregagh Transition Group (CCTG). 
With the support of the programme 
the group explored the issues they 
faced and they gradually built trust 
and understanding and a framework 
for future plans and activity. 

The priority was to work with young 
people aged 16 and over whose 
relationships reflected the influences 
of the past. These young people 
were on the margins of crime and 
anti-social behaviour rather than 
enjoying the benefits of mainstream 
youth provision. 

The work began with both 
communities developing football 
teams which met twice weekly for 
two years to train and play together. 
As well as building bridges between 
the communities, football was also 
used to reach out to others beyond 
the estates. In unprecedented moves, 
games were played with minority 
ethnic groups and the teams travelled 
to Dublin with many of the young 
people and adult volunteers crossing 
the border for the first time.

The group also works with older 
people arranging stew and soup days, 
day trips and Christmas lunches to 
which everyone is invited. They have 
also set up very successful parent and 
toddler groups in both areas and run 
weekly youth club events for younger 
teenagers which are attended by 
people from both communities. 

Creating a Future 
From the Past 
Case Study: Clonduff Cregagh Transition Group.

Marlene Dodds, Committee Member 
of CCTG, says: “The programme gave 
us the structure and support we 
needed to be able to develop plans for 
our two communities. People have 
seen the difference our efforts are 
making and now want to get involved, 
and crucially the young people we 
initially recruited into the football 
have grown up and moved on to local 
bigger clubs together as friends and 
not on opposing sides.” 

Other achievements include 
transforming the July bonfires into 
community celebrations which in the 
first year resulted in the Police Service 
of Northern Ireland and Northern 
Ireland Housing Executive recording a 
75% drop in call outs and anti-social 
behaviour reports around that time. 
The group has also engaged with the 
Crossing the Bridges Programme 
and supported local women from 
both communities to take part in a 
year-long peace and reconciliation 
project with a Catholic community and 
a community from across the border.

Now, as they look beyond the life 
of the programme, the group are 
working to secure their future work 
in both areas while two members of 
the partnership are currently studying 
community development at university 
and will finish their degrees next year. 

“The programme 
gave us the structure 

and support we 
needed to be able 

to develop plans for 
our two communities. 
People have seen the 

difference our efforts 
are making and now 
want to get involved, 

and crucially the young 
people we initially 
recruited into the 

football have grown up 
and moved on to local 
bigger clubs together 
as friends and not on 

opposing sides.” 
 

Marlene Dodds,
Commitee Member of CCTG.
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Building Foundations

The Community Leadership Programme is now in 
its fourth phase and continues to offer exciting and 
innovative training and learning opportunities which 
aim to strengthen the leadership capacity of community 
groups. The programme goal is to empower communities 
to develop their leadership skills, and thereby build more 
effective communities and improve local social and economic 
conditions and community relations. 

The current phase of the programme, 
which started in 2009 has funding 
of £2.1million and will be delivered 
to 30-35 groups per year over three 
years in Northern Ireland and the 
southern border counties, in areas 
of weak community infrastructure 
and disadvantage. The Northern 
Ireland Council for Voluntary Action 

Hats	off	to	community	leaders	who	graduated	from	the	University	of	Ulster	with	a	Certificate	in	
Management	Practice,	which	was	funded	by	the	International	Fund	for	Ireland’s	Community	
Leadership	Programme	managed	by	NICVA.	Pictured	at	the	graduation	are	from	left	to	right
(front	row):	Dr	Anita	MacNabb	(University	of	Ulster);	Bernie	Sweeney	(Dunfanaghy	Family	Resource	
Centre);	Jean	McLaughlin	(Dunfanaghy	Family	Resource	Centre);	(back	row)	Nigel	Duke	(Edgarstown	
Residents	Association);	Gordon	Blevins	(Corcrain	and	Redmanville	Community	Association);	and	Richard	
Mealey	(Corcrain	and	Redmanville	Community	Association).

The Community 
Leadership Programme 

(NICVA) has been appointed to deliver 
the programme and will recruit 
community-based organisations 
according to greatest need, stage of 
development, potential to gain from 
the programme and commitment to 
learning and development, including 
willingness to network with others.
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Building 
 Foundations
During this financial year, the Fund committed 
financial assistance to the following projects: 

American Business Internship and Training Programme (AMBIT)

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Northern Ireland

AMBIT. AMBIT 2012. 70,000

Community Based Economic and Social Regeneration Programme

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Antrim Borough Council Area

Inter Estate Partnership
Queens Road
Antrim.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,715

Ards Borough Council Area

Peninsula Healthy Living Partnership
Church Grove
Kircubbin.

Implementation of a health and good 
relations project.

188,375

Armagh City & District Council Area

Glenanne Development Association
Upper Lisdrumchor Road
Markethill.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

St John’s Parish Church
Mullabrack
Markethill.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999
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Building Foundations

Ballymoney Borough Council Area

Ballymaconnelly Renewal Group
Vow Road
Rasharkin.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Topp Rural Regeneration & Cultural 
Society
Gracehill Road
Ballymoney.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Belfast City Council Area

East Belfast Partnership
Newtownards Road
Belfast.

Implementation of a health and 
good relations project.

169,096

North Belfast Orange Memorial Hall
Alexander Park Avenue
Belfast.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

48,735

Townsend Street Presbyterian Church
Townsend Street
Belfast.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Coleraine Borough Council Area

Mullan AOH (Division 378)
Aghivey Road
Movanagher
Kilrea.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Trustees of Lislea Orange Hall
Moneygran Road
Kilrea.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Cookstown District Council Area

Ballynenagh Cultural Development 
Association
Dunronan Road
Loup
Cookstown.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Fairhill Development Association
Fairhill Road
Cookstown.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Ochill Cultural Group
Drumkern Road
Stewartstown.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Craigavon Borough Council Area

Goodyear Sports & Social Club
Silverwood Road
Lurgan.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,966
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Derry City Council Area

All Saints Caring Association - 
Community Empowerment
Melrose Terrace
Waterside
Londonderry/Derry.

A two-year programme of community and 
cross-community activity to complement the 
development of the organisation’s new centre.

175,500

Business in the Community/BEAM 
Project
Maydown
Londonderry/Derry.

Additional assistance towards the provision 
of 7,500 sq ft of workspace.

30,145

Dungannon & South Tyrone Borough 
Council Area

Bloomhill Rural Development Association
Agharan Road
Newmills
Dungannon.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Roughan Silver Band
Annahilla Road
Augher.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Fermanagh District Council

Ballyreagh Silver Band
Tempo Road
Mullyknock
Tempo.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Killadeas LOL558
Tully
Killadeas.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,689

Muckross Parish Church
Letter Road
Muckross
Kesh.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Tedd Cross & District Community 
Association
Tedd Cross
Irvinestown.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Magherafelt District Council Area

Curran (1776) Hall
Development Association
Toberhead Road
Curran
Knockloughrim.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Drumoolish Hall
Development Association
Innishrush Road
Upperlands.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999
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Eden Accordion Band & Concert Music 
Society
Eden Road
Upperlands.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,896

Mayogall AOH
Mayogall Road
Maghera.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Michael Davitt GAC
Garvagh Road
Swatragh.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Mowillan Hall Development Association
Springhill Road
Moneymore.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,010

Newry & Mourne District Council Area

Cranfield Cultural Society
Cranfield Road
Cranfield
Kilkeel.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

47,263

Drumlough & Ballygorian Rural 
Development Association
Bog Road
Rathfriland.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Lower Mourne Gaelic League
Marine Park
Annalong.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Newtownabbey Borough Council

Newtownabbey Community Relations 
Forum
Antrim Road
Glengormley
Newtownabbey.

A two-year project to build community 
capacity and improve community relations.

126,000

Strabane District Council Area

Eden Youth & Community Association
Glenelly Road
Plumbridge.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Glentimon Cultural Development 
Association
Seein Road
Glentimon
Sion Mills.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

49,999

Killen Cultural Committee
Main Street
Castlederg.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

47,149
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Name/Address Project Description SOUTH €

County Cavan

Ballyhaise Development Association
Ballyhaise.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

59,999

Kilgarry National School
Kilgarry.

A two-year cross-community reconciliation 
project for schools.

95,000

Killegar Parish Church
Killegar.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

59,628

Tomregan Parish Church
Ballyconnell.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

59,999

County Donegal

Atlantic View
Healing by Remembering
Main Street
Ballyshannon.

A one-year cross-border project dealing with 
the emotional problems that both Nationalist 
and Unionist women are experiencing as a 
result of the Troubles.

182,745

DLDC
Volunteering in the Community
Millenium Court
Pearse Road
Letterkenny.

A two-year project promoting volunteering 
and reconciliation among young unemployed, 
disadvantaged and socially excluded young 
people.

236,750

Doorin LOL 1148
Mullinbouys
Inver.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

59,999

IWIN-MUWN
Exploring New Directions
Millbrae Heights
Carndonagh 
County Donegal.

A two-year cross-border cross-community 
programme targeting difficult to reach women 
particularly in rural communities, aimed at 
engaging them in civic activity.

257,874

Football4Peace Ireland - Sustainability 
Programme
Pound Street
Carndonagh.

A two-year project designed and accredited 
by the University of Ulster covering peace, 
conflict and leadership with the values of 
social and behavioural change from the 
Football4Peace Ireland model.

165,000

Muff Community Development 
Co-operative
Main Street
Muff
Donegal.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

55,438

NWAF
Family Matters in the Community
Enterprise Fund Business Park
Ballyraine
Letterkenny.

A two-year project which will work with 
families to break the destructive cycle that 
has severely impacted on the quality of life 
during the Troubles.

311,874
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St Johnston Masonic Hall Committee 
Church Lane
St Johnston
Donegal.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

59,638

St Mary’s Hall Committee
Townparks Convoy
Lifford.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

57,690

County Leitrim

Newtowngore & Corrawellan Parish 
Church
Newtowngore
Ballinamore.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

59,999

County Louth

Men in Sheds
Louth Age Friendly County Initiative
Dublin Road
Dundalk.

A project designed to develop three facilities 
for older men in the Louth area which will 
deliver activities on a cross-community basis 
to older disadvantaged men who suffered 
during the Troubles.

425,500

Muirhevnamor - Handshakes
The Grange
Muirhevnamor
Dundalk.

To provide an extension to the community 
facility and an 18-month programme of peace 
and reconciliation and social activities.

225,000

Music and Craft at the Pond
Stephenstown Pond Trust
Knockbridge
Dundalk.

Peace and reconciliation activities through 
the media of music, craft and shared culture.

91,943

County Monaghan

Artswell Castleblaney Limited
Conobury
Castleblayney.

Cross-community drama workshops, theatre 
work, summer camps etc for adults and 
children.

245,312

Ballinode Community Projects
Terrytole
Ballinode.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

59,999

Ballybay Development Association
Ballybay.

A two-year programme of training courses 
with a peace and reconciliation focus.

124,100

Castleblayney Arts & Community Council 
Limited
Castleblayney.

A two-year cross-community reconciliation 
project using theatre workshops.

125,690

Clontibret LOL776
Avereagh
Clontibret.

Minor works to upgrade the group’s 
community hall.

47,093
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Monaghan Integrated Development 
Company Limited
Monaghan Road
Castleblayney.

A two-year cross-community project aimed 
at senior citizens and young people in County 
Monaghan.

144,293

County Sligo

Community of Lough Arrow Social 
Project (CLASP)
Drumnacool
Roscommon.

A two-year cross-community project aimed 
at addressing the impact of the Troubles on 
older and isolated men in County Sligo.

220,000

Connecting Calry
Willowbrook
Calry.

To enhance the trust and understanding 
between the Nationalist and Unionist 
communities of Calry and surrounding areas.

159,078

Families Matters 
Cleveragh Road
Sligo.

A two-year reconciliation project implementing 
effective family support approaches to 
preventing generational family dysfunction, 
neglect and abuse resulting from the Troubles.

213,250

Multiple Areas

Ballinaglera Development Company 
3CAP Communities Advancing 
Through Peace
Ballinaglera
County Leitrim.

A project to advance trust and understanding 
between communities in Ballinaglera, Boho 
and Killesher.

151,946

Ballinamore Sean O’Heaslins GAA Club
Lahard
Ballinamore
County Leitrim.

A two-year project aimed at enhancing the 
level of interaction, communication and 
reconciliation between Nationalist and 
Unionist communities in Leitrim, Cavan, 
Fermanagh and Tyrone, through reading 
groups located in the four counties.

97,223

Ballybofey & Stranorlar Integrated 
Community Company Limited (BASICC)
Lower Main Street
Ballybofey
County Donegal.

An integrated and sustainable regeneration 
programme in a shared community space.

289,388

Carrick-on-Shannon Heritage
Twin Traditions
St Georges Church
Carrick-on-Shannon
County Leitrim.

A two-year cross-community and cross- 
border project to enhance trust and 
understanding between the two communities 
in Leitrim and Enniskillen through training in 
drama, historical research and photography.

170,090

Cashelard Community Development 
Limited
The Breesy Centre
Ballyshannon
County Donegal.

A two-year reconciliation project through 
outdoor pursuits for 14-16 year olds in 
the Tyrone and Donegal area.

196,845
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Cavan Community & Vocational Forum
Farnam Street
Cavan
County Cavan.

A two-year cross-community peace and 
reconciliation creative media programme 
for Cavan, Banbridge and Newry.

171,000

Crossing Borders on Screen
Cinema North West
Dromahaire
County Leitrim.

Project using film to promote reconciliation 
among young people from Leitrim, Cavan 
and Fermanagh.

190,000

Gillaroo Communities Development 
Project
Church Street
Drumshanbo
County Leitrim.

An eighteen-month project aimed 
at enhancing the level of interaction, 
communication and reconciliation between 
the Nationalist and Unionist communities in 
Rossinver, Garrison, Kiltyclogher, Cashel 
and surrounding areas.

105,740

hisTory Links Project
Croaghan Heights
Lifford
County Donegal.

A two-year project aimed at promoting 
reconciliation by linking the past and present 
through self-discovery of local history using 
ICT in the Inishowen and Limavady areas.

239,070

Communities in Transition Programme

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Multiple Areas

Community Foundation for Northern 
Ireland - Communities Engagement 
Programme
Bligh’s Lane
Londonderry/Derry.

A three-year community development and 
community relations programme to build the 
capacity of local groups and statutory agencies 
in selected areas to develop new approaches 
and practices providing local services, reduced 
community tensions and divisions.

543,229
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Building 
 Bridges
Segregation and sectarianism remain very real challenges 
in Northern Ireland and the southern border counties. 

Building Bridges operates in two main areas: Youth Programmes focus on 
creating cross-community and cross-border opportunities for young people; 
and the Community Bridges Programme which supports innovative and 
ground-breaking community projects which seek to address difference 
and division and promote reconciliation and mutual understanding between 
all sections of the community - particularly in interface areas.
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Pictured	with	Dr	Denis	Rooney	CBE,	Chairman	
of	the	International	Fund	for	Ireland	are	12	

lucky	graduates	from	the	Knowledge	through	
Enterprise	for	Youth	(KEY)	Programme	as	they	

celebrate	being	rewarded	with	a	trip	to	the	Next	
Generation	Leaders	Conference	held	in	Queens	

School	of	Business,	Kingston,	Ontario.	
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Youth Programmes focus on creating cross-community and 
cross-border opportunities for young people aged 12 – 28.
 
As well as providing opportunities for dialogue and mutual 
understanding, these programmes offer young people a chance to 
develop their skills, education and self-esteem through practical training 
and recognised qualifications. 

Youth
Programmes

Participants	in	the	Wider	Horizons	
Programme	take	to	the	Mournes

	for	team	building.
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Learning and Educating 
Together (LET) Programme

LET aims to break the cycle of 
poor educational achievement 
and unemployment by bringing 
together students aged 12-13 
from both sides of the border and 
from both traditions into a series 
of camps to learn about mutual 
understanding, personal finance, 
budgeting, good communication 
and business planning.

In 2011, 600 young people took part 
in the camps and approximately 
5,700 young people have participated 
in the programme since its inception 
in 2003. 

Delivered jointly by Young Enterprise 
Northern Ireland and Junior 
Achievement Ireland, the programme 
has an excellent track record in 
facilitating friendships between 
young people from different 
backgrounds and religions.

Knowledge through 
Enterprise for Youth 
(KEY) Programme

KEY works with students aged 
14-16 to enhance their personal 
development and mutual 
understanding through enterprise 
training, business tasks and outdoor 
activities during a series of four 
residential camps. 

Through the programme, young 
people from different traditions and 
community backgrounds are able to 
develop a greater understanding and 
tolerance for other traditions and firm 

friendships are often formed. 
Each year Young Entrepreneurs 
of the Year are chosen from the KEY 
students and they are rewarded with 
a trip to Canada, to participate in the 
Next Generation Leaders Conference.

Independent annual evaluations 
repeatedly demonstrate that KEY is 
successful in meeting its twin aims of 
promoting peace and reconciliation 
between the two main communities 
and addressing the disadvantage 
of marginalised young people by 
teaching them enterprise and 
personal skills. 

In 2011, 900 young people took 
part in the camps and approximately 
9,800 young people have participated 
in the programme since its inception 
in 1999.   

Knowledge through 
Enterprise for Youth 
(KEY Start) Programme

The KEY Start Programme is based on 
the well established KEY Programme 
and is a 10-day initiative aimed at 
young people in alternative education 
aged 14-16.

The programme aims to:
• develop self-esteem and   
 confidence and enhance the 
 ability of participants to positively   
 contribute to society; 
• increase the likelihood that   
 participants will become
  economically active and less 
 likely to be socially excluded; and
• develop a better understanding 
 of cultural diversity.

Gerry Rogan Initiative 
Trust (GRIT) Programme

This programme aims to assist young 
people aged 16-18 to consider the 
implications of their decisions and 
actions; encourage them to take more 
positive views of themselves and their 
futures; examine their own and each 
other’s identity and background; and 
make positive plans for the future.

Wider Horizons Programme

Wider Horizons is one of the Fund’s 
longest established programmes. It 
brings together young adults aged 
18-28 from economically and socially 
disadvantaged areas from both sides 
of the border and provides them 
with training, work experience and a 
unique opportunity to gain a greater 
insight into, and respect for, each 
others’ traditions.

A Wider Horizons Project Group 
typically involves 21 participants 
drawn equally from the Unionist and 
Nationalist traditions in Northern 
Ireland and from the southern border 
counties with some projects also 
taking participants from Dublin.

Each project normally lasts 20 weeks 
and is divided into three stages. The 
first stage is pre-departure which 
includes training in vocational skills, 
mutual understanding, conflict 
resolution, team building and 
personal development.

Stage two includes work experience 
in an overseas location, where 
the groups continue to address 
mutual understanding and personal 
development issues.

The third stage involves completing 
vocational qualifications and 
developing job search skills.

Since it began in 1986, approximately 
17,600 young people have completed 
the Wider Horizons Programme 
in destinations such as Canada, 
America, Europe and South Africa.

Wider	Horizons	participants	take	
part	in	a	school	visit	while	in	
Cape	Town,	South	Africa.	
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One of the main aims of the Wider Horizons Programme is to encourage and 
support peace and reconciliation between young people from Unionist and Nationalist 
communities in Northern Ireland and young people from the border counties in Ireland.   

David Wiggins, 24, successfully 
applied for the Wider Horizons 
Programme after losing his joinery 
apprenticeship due to the economic 
downturn. He left after the first month 
on the programme because of his 
embarrassment at not being able to 
read or write. A programme manager 
at Springboard Opportunities, 
one of the delivery agents for the 
programme, persuaded him to return 
and while he was on the programme 
he passed his essential literacy skills.
 
David explains the impact the 
programme has had on his life. 

“I had spent four years working 
towards becoming a joiner which 
wasn’t easy because of my difficulties 
with reading and writing but I was 
committed to it and I loved the work. 
When I lost my placement I was 
devastated. Someone suggested I 
should apply for the International 
Fund for Ireland’s Wider Horizons 
Programme. I had real doubts about 
doing it but it turned out to be my 
saviour and the best thing I have 
ever done in my life.”  

“I achieved more in 18 weeks on the 
programme than I had in the whole 
of the previous four years. As well as 
learning from the vocational side of 
the programme and about First Aid 
I got great support with my English 
and maths. There was no drama 
and it was great to know there was 
always someone there to help. We 
began with a two-week residential, 
living and working with 20 strangers 
from very different cultural and 
political backgrounds and from 
north and south of the border. We 
were challenged through team 
building sessions and took part in 
several workshops including conflict 
resolution, reconciliation, team 
building and mutual understanding 
and while it was a tough environment 
we became like family to each other 
at the end.

“I went to Germany for my work 
placement and while it was difficult 
being away from home it was also 
a once in a lifetime experience. I’ve 
stayed in touch with the family I lived 
with during that time and I’m going 
back to see everyone soon.”  

Wider Horizons 
Programme   
Case study: Towards a brighter future.

David completed the programme in 
December 2010 and is now employed 
in security work for two different 
companies.

71% of participants who completed 
the Wider Horizons Programme in 
2010 progressed into further training, 
education or employment – a rate 
regarded as highly successful for 
this type of programme. 

The Wider Horizons Programme 
is managed on behalf of the 
International Fund for Ireland by 
the Department for Employment 
and Learning (DEL) in Northern 
Ireland and FÁS, the training and 
employment authority in Ireland.     

David	Wiggins.
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The Community Bridges Programme is at the forefront of 
the work of the International Fund for Ireland in helping 
communities in Northern Ireland and the southern border 
counties to use ground breaking projects to develop community 
relations and reconciliation. 
 
The Community Bridges Programme exists to support:
• reconciliation for a shared future;
• organisations delivering projects with the potential to make a significant   
 contribution to reconciliation and the emergence of a shared and peaceful  
 future on the island of Ireland; and
• organisations wishing to undertake activities that address issues of conflict 
 and division related to the Troubles.

Community
Bridges

Building Bridges

A	mural	created	by	some	of	the	young	people	
taking	part	in	the	NI	Alternative	Area	Action	

Group’s	intensive	youth	programme.



“The programme has 
allowed women from 

our target areas to 
come together and 

acknowledge what they 
have gone through, but 

equally as important, 
they have heard the 
stories from women 
from the other side 

of the community and 
the border and have a 

greater understanding 
now of how the Troubles 
impacted on everyone.”

A co-ordinator
on the programme.
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The Inishowen Women’s Information Network was set up in 2000 to initially provide 
an information network for women’s groups in the Inishowen area, County Donegal, 
committed to improving the lifestyle of local women through personal development, 
education, representation, socialising and mutual support. 

In 2003, the group formed an associate 
partnership with Mid Ulster Women’s 
Network that over the years has gone 
from strength to strength. Initially 
working on a joint rural health project, 
the two groups have since evolved 
to implement a number of highly 
successful projects centred around 
peace building issues. These have 
nurtured and developed strategic links 
with a network of active groups in the 
Donegal and Mid Ulster communities, 
as well as organisations in Dublin 
and Belfast.

Its Experiences of the Troubles Pilot 
Project funded by the Department 
of Foreign Affairs engaged with 
women in conversation about what it 
was like to live and work during the 
years of the Troubles. 

Building on that project, the Inishowen 
Women’s Information Network and Mid 
Ulster Women’s Network have recently 
completed a further innovative cross- 
border/cross-community relations 
programme which was part funded by 
the International Fund for Ireland. The 
project culminated in the production 
of a CD of the women’s stories, titled: 
“Let’s Listen.”

Reconciliation Through Dialogue
Case study: inishowen Women’s information Network.

The project provided mentoring support 
in a three-stage training programme 
for up to 90 women from Mid Ulster, 
Londonderry/Derry, Lifford, Raphoe 
and Inishowen. This enabled them to 
work as community leaders in their 
own communities and create hubs 
of reconciliation practice throughout 
community projects in the North 
West of Ireland and Mid Ulster. 

The project involved almost 
30 weeks of training culminating in 
a community initiative. The training 
tackled a broad range of issues related 
to sharing personal and general 
experiences around the Troubles, 
together with a module on leadership 
training, equipping participants with 
the skills and competencies required 
for community development work. 
Following the intensive training 
programme, participants were then 
asked to design, implement and 
evaluate their own community project 
based on the principles of 
reconciliation, dialogue and cooperation.

This latest project has worked well to 
bring women from rural and urban 
communities together and was
sensitively designed to address the

legacy of the Troubles in geographical 
areas. In addition, this project and 
the work of Inishowen Women’s 
Information Network and the Mid 
Ulster Women’s Network, is leaving 
a lasting, positive and sustainable 
impact through developing the 
capacity of a diverse range of women.

The project co-ordinator said: “This 
funding has given both networks the 
stability to concentrate on engaging 
in vital work with quite vulnerable 
women, while not having to worry 
where the next year’s funding is 
coming from.” 

Launch	of	“Let’s	Listen”	CD.



“The project empowers 
young people to build 

their negotiation skills 
and solve their own 

problems.”

Debbie Watters, 
NI Alternatives.
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NI Alternatives is an organisation which works across the Greater Belfast area to 
address issues of justice and conflict, mainly within disadvantaged Unionist communities, 
through non-violent, restorative ways. 

Action for Community Transformation 
(ACT) and Pupils and Community 
Together (PACT) are two of its most 
ambitious projects. 

ACT is a series of workshops for 
those who were once directly involved 
in, or on the fringes of, Loyalist 
paramilitarism. The project invites 
participants to reflect on their role in 
the Troubles and they are encouraged 
to adopt a positive leadership role 
within their local community. In 2008 
the organisation was hoping to work 
with three to four hundred people 
but they have already reached over 
a thousand. 

Debbie Watters of NI Alternatives 
says: “Our participants have shown 
a real desire to complete this 
course. They want to be the ones 
that demonstrate a different style of 
leadership within their community 
and be the active peace-builders 

Leaving the Past Behind
Case study: Action for Community Transformation (ACT)  
and Pupils and Community Together (PACT).

for now and for future generations.  
The course helps the participants to 
open up and see the world through 
different lenses.”

Much of the work is strategic 
but there are also very practical 
outcomes. Area Action Groups are 
active in youth work, justice and 
policing and legacy of the conflict 
issues. The groups meet weekly 
to look at particular issues facing 
their area and to develop projects to 
address these at grassroots level. 

As Debbie says: “We are working 
with a band from the Shankill which 
once had paramilitary connections. 
Through the ACT Project we are now 
beginning to help re-connect them 
to their community by looking at 
their history, how their actions are 
perceived by others and what their 
role can be in the modern day.“ 

Building Bridges

Taking	part	in	a	cross-school	trip	are	pupils	from	Belfast	Boys’	Model	
School	and	St	Patrick’s	College,	Belfast	as	they	complete	the	restorative	
justice	training	in	schools.	Also	pictured	with	the	pupils	are	from	left:		
William	Mitchell,	North	Belfast	Alternatives;	Jen	Caskey	(centre)	North	
Belfast	Alternatives;	and	Judith	Blair,	teacher,	Belfast	Boys’	Model	School.

PACT takes restorative justice 
into schools by training teachers 
and pupils to mediate in low level 
conflicts. Each mediator is given 
the opportunity to extend their skills 
in the community to help contribute 
to community relations. 

Debbie says: “The project 
empowers young people to build 
their negotiation skills and solve 
their own problems. While this is 
having a significantly positive impact 
in schools it is of even greater value 
when we are able to use it to solve 
problems that arise at an interface 
and this is helping to transform the 
way these issues are handled.“      
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Building 
 Bridges
During this financial year, the Fund committed 
financial assistance to the following projects: 

Community Bridges Programme

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Belfast City Council Area

Cliftonville Community Regeneration 
Forum/Lower Oldpark Community 
Association
Clifton Park Avenue
Belfast.

A community relations project involving 
structured engagement with young people 
and adults to improve relations in this 
interface area.

260,000

North Belfast Community Development 
& Transition Group
York Road
Belfast.

Assistance to support new, and develop 
existing cross-community and conflict 
transformation work.

230,318

Youthcom
Berry Street
Belfast.

Assistance to further develop an existing 
community relations project which will 
encompass the development of capacity 
in youth clubs from both communities.

283,413

Youth Link NI
Farset Enterprise Park
Springfield Road
Belfast.

A cross-community project for young people 
who have left school with limited academic 
success but who have demonstrated potential 
to teachers, youth workers or community 
leaders.

283,552

Craigavon Borough Council Area

SELB Youth Service
Bridge Street
Portadown.

A community relations youth project which 
will co-ordinate community relations, youth 
and support activity in Lurgan.

229,690

Shankill Parish Caring Association
The Jethro Centre
Flush Place
Lurgan.

A cross-community project to develop 
leadership skills of young people, to 
build community capacity and encourage 
volunteering.

286,286

Newtownabbey District Council Area

Monkstown Community Association
Cashel Drive
Monkstown
Newtownabbey.

An innovative community relations project to 
reduce conflict by working with three target 
groups – men, women and youth.

250,810
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Name/Address Project Description NORTH/SOUTH £

Multiple Areas

Groundwork NI 
Northside Partnership Dublin
Duncairn Gardens
Belfast.

A cross-border, cross-community project 
focussing on regeneration and reconciliation 
in Belfast and Dublin.

326,548

Leafair Community Association - 
Carson Project
Leafair Park
Londonderry/Derry.

A cross-community contact and leadership 
development project between Harryville in 
Ballymena and the Greater Shantallow 
area of Londonderry/Derry.

225,000

Newtowncunningham Community 
Development Initiative
Shona Court
Newtowncunningham
Donegal.

A cross-border, cross-community project 
involving young people aged 12 – 25 years.

225,189

Youth Initiatives
Colin Road
Dunmurry
Antrim.

A community development outreach project 
involving young people aged 11 – 18 years.

201,534

Name/Address Project Description  NORTH/SOUTH a

Multiple Areas

Donegal Youth Services
Port Road
Letterkenny
Donegal.

A project which will engage young people aged 
12–25 years in a youth orientated cross-border, 
cross-community project across counties 
Donegal and Tyrone.

265,838

KEY Programme

Name/Address Project Description NORTH/SOUTH £

Multiple Areas

Young Enterprise Northern Ireland/
Junior Achievement Ireland
Belfast/Dublin.

A two-year cross-community, cross-border 
programme to promote mutual understanding 
and to improve the employability of 14-16 
year olds.

2,667,593

LET Programme

Name/Address Project Description NORTH/SOUTH £

Multiple Areas

Young Enterprise Northern Ireland/
Junior Achievement Ireland
Belfast/Dublin.

A two-year cross-community, cross- 
border programme to promote peace and 
reconciliation and to develop the personal 
skills of 12-13 year olds.

1,615,327
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Building 
 Integration
Although we have entered into a new era of greater political 
and civic stability, many communities across Northern Ireland and 
the southern border counties are still living with sectarianism and 
segregation. Many people from the different traditions continue to learn, 
work and live separately. 

The Fund continues to develop and support pioneering initiatives in education, 
housing, and with community groups which create sustainable opportunities for 
sharing. The series of programmes that fall under this area of activity aim to promote 
integration and underpin peace building and reconciliation initiatives which will continue 
to have a positive impact long after the Fund ceases to exist.   
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Dr	Adrian	Johnston,	Board	Member	
of	the	International	Fund	for	Ireland,	
launching	the	Community	Learning	
and	Social	Skills	Project	(C.L.A.S.S.)	
which	encourages	cross-community	
contact	between	young	people	from	

counties	Londonderry/Derry,	Tyrone,	
Fermanagh,	and	Donegal;	with	

Christopher	Burke,	Chairperson,	
Reach	Across;	and	pupils	from	St	
John’s	Primary	School	and	Model	

Primary	School,	Londonderry/Derry.
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The Sharing in Education Programme supports the 
strategic objectives of the International Fund for Ireland 
by providing support for projects that enable young people 
to participate in shared educational experiences. 

The programme is managed by the 
Department of Education which 
works with providers in education, 
registered youth organisations and 
related services. The programme 
supports educational experiences 
which are shared between young 
people representative of the two 
communities and where reconciliation 
is an overriding objective.

It seeks to break down the barriers 
arising from our historic conflict by 
providing a range of opportunities for 
young people to learn together and 
reach the highest possible standards 
of educational achievement.

The programme encompasses
pre-school, primary, post-primary 
and special education; the promotion 
of community relations within 
and between schools; and
teacher education.

The Sharing in 
Education Programme 

The Sharing in Education Programme 
supports a range of projects which 
facilitate reconciliation for a shared 
future through the medium of education 
and related services which:

• promote shared education by   
 linking schools representative 
 of the two communities;
• build on community relations   
 within and between schools;
• support cultural outreach   
 amongst young people
  representative of the differing   
 communities/traditions; and
• address strategic gaps in   
 achieving reconciliation through   
 a cross-community, cross-border  
 approach in the education
  and the related services sector.

22 projects have been awarded 
funding of £16 million. 

Students	from	St.	Nicholas’s	
National	School,	Dundalk	being	

hosted	by	students	from	St.	
Malachy’s	Primary	School,	County	

Armagh	during	module	3	of	the	
Hand	of	Friendship	Project.



“Pupils are learning about schools and 
areas they had not previously heard of and 
they’re increasing their understanding of 
each other’s communities”.

Barney McGuigan, Project Co-ordinator at C.L.A.S.S..
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Reach Across is a cross-community organisation for young people in the North West of 
Northern Ireland. In 2010 it began to deliver the Community Learning and Social Skills 
(C.L.A.S.S.) Project, a new schools initiative designed to bring together young people 
aged 10-17 from both communities and from both sides of the border to encourage 
contact and dialogue and promote community relations. 

At the end of the three-year project 
Reach Across aims to have delivered 
courses and workshops to over 
2,500 young people in primary and 
post-primary schools in counties 
Londonderry/Derry, Tyrone, 
Fermanagh and Donegal.

Using a combination of classroom 
sessions, workshops and residential 
courses the young people can take part 
in four areas: citizenship; prefect and 
leadership training; an “Us and Them” 
course which explores issues around 
symbols, emblems, parades, politics 
and policing; and a primary pathways 
course aimed at primary school 
children which brings them together 
to explore their differences and what 
they share in common. 

Barney McGuigan, Project 
Co-ordinator at C.L.A.S.S., says: 
“The citizenship classes provide a 
unique opportunity for 14-17 year 
olds to engage with and learn 
alongside pupils from other schools 
with different backgrounds and 
identities. Many of those taking part 
live in an area made up entirely of 
people from their own community 
and their school environment is 
the same - and they consider this 
the norm because they have never 
known anything else. Our discussions 
challenge their perceptions and 
we respectfully explore diversity, 
inclusivity, mixing with people from 
all communities and forming 
friendships outside their 
community.”

From Education to
Community Relations
Case study: Reach Across - Community Learning and Social Skills (C.L.A.S.S.) Project. 

The summer scheme offers outdoor 
pursuits along with educational 
workshops looking at prejudice, 
stereotypes and identities of one 
tradition and another. Barney 
describes how the most powerful 
lessons learned here are about 
finding the pupils shared ground. 
As he says: “...the more we can 
build on, the easier and more 
positive our futures will be.” 

Primary Pathways is about 
reaching children who are at 
the vulnerable and influential ages 
of 10 and 11 years to encourage 
positive ideas about respecting 
beliefs, traditions and values of 
people from other religions, 
cultures or social backgrounds. 

Ten teachers per year will undertake 
community relations learning that 
will enable them to deliver similar 
courses and workshops within their 
respective school environments.
Barney concludes: “We try to use 
every means available to us, without 
lecturing. We have a light-hearted 
approach with a serious message 
and above all else we provide the 
opportunity for contact which we 
hope will have an impact on 
reconciling young people in the 
North West region. 

“Pupils are learning about schools 
and areas they had not previously 
heard of and they’re increasing 
their understanding of each other’s 
communities. We enjoy the positive 
feedback we get from teachers but 
it is the attitude and approach of 
the pupils who volunteer to take 
part in this project that we’re most 
heartened by - they want to go down 
a different pathway and C.L.A.S.S. is 
simply helping them on their way.”

Pupils	from	Balloughry	Primary	School	and	Scoil	An	Leanbh	Iosa	
taking	part	in	a	workshop	at	the	Playtrail	Park,	Londonderry	/Derry.	



The Hand of Friendship Project is a three-year, cross-sectoral, cross-border initiative 
which provides school pupils with an opportunity to make friendships with children from 
a different background and culture while helping to instil positive attitudes that will stay 
with them into adulthood. 

Learning Towards a 
Shared Future
Case study: The Hand of Friendship Project. 

The project was launched into 
schools in counties Armagh, 
Down, Londonderry /Derry, Tyrone, 
Monaghan and Louth in September 
2010 and will reach more than 1,200 
children, 100 teachers and more 
than 200 parents from both sides of 
the border over the lifetime of the 
initiative. It is delivered by Junior 
Achievement Ireland. 

The children, who are in the final 
two years of primary school, take 
part in six modules across the full 
school year which challenge them 
to question how conflict between 
communities can arise and be 
resolved, why symbols and 
emblems may have different 
meanings for their neighbours 
and how sectarian behaviour can 
have a very negative effect on 
families and communities.

Colin Ryan, Project Manager for the 
Hand of Friendship Project, says: “We 
had an instance when a young pupil 
said ‘I don’t like Catholics’ but in the 

course of the following discussion it 
became apparent they didn’t actually 
know any Catholics because their 
school didn’t have any Catholic 
pupils. The group discussed it further 
and agreed that it was all right for 
people to have different beliefs and 
that they could still form friendships.”  

As the academic year progresses, 
the project looks at the similarities 
and differences between the two 
main cultures in Northern Ireland 
and the children learn the meaning 
of sectarianism and to recognise 
that attitudes and actions can impact 
adversely on their own communities.

Parental involvement is integral to 
the project and parents are invited to 
take part in a reconciliation workshop 
and learn more about the Hand of 
Friendship Project.

Colin Ryan: “The children are at 
the perfect age for exploring these 
difficult topics. They are very open 
and idealistic and hugely enthusiastic 

about getting to know each other. It is 
a wonderful opportunity to influence 
attitudes before they harden and 
before children come under peer 
pressure.”

A Teacher from Dromiskin National 
School, County Louth, said: “The 
activities are well thought out and 
the facilitators are excellent. The 
children participated enthusiastically; 
they really seem to have grasped the 
ideas of the day. The project is so 
worthwhile because it enables time 
to be devoted to teasing out the 
topics – in school the curriculum 
is overcrowded. The interaction 
between children from different 
schools is great to see.”
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Students	from	St.	Nicholas’s	National	
School,	Dundalk,	County	Louth	and	St.	
Malachy’s	Primary	School,	Camlough,	

County	Armagh	at	their	final	module	
of	the	Hand	of	Friendship	Project	Year	

1.	This	event	is	called	Working	it	Out,	a	
combination	sports	and	maths	event.	
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Students	from	St.	Joseph’s	National	School,	
Dundalk	being	hosted	by	students	from	Kilkeel	
Primary	School,	County	Down	during	module	3	

of	the	Hand	of	Friendship	Project.
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The Fund launched the Shared Neighbourhood Programme in 
August 2008 to support and encourage shared neighbourhoods 
across Northern Ireland. It is managed by the Northern Ireland Housing 
Executive (NIHE) and has achieved its initial aim of developing 30 shared 
neighbourhoods in three years.

The programme, with funding of £870,000, provides grants to enable community 
organisations to celebrate diversity and bring together people from all backgrounds 
who live in these areas. Participants also benefit from community relations training, 
community consultations and support to design their own Neighbourhood Charter and 
deliver their own Good Relations Programme. Training and practical on-the-ground support 
are provided by the NIHE through a dedicated team of Cohesion Advisers.

The programme has been the subject of an independent external evaluation. It found 
that while the programme is just one of the many possible responses to the issue of segregated 
housing, it is perhaps the response with the most potential to make the most difference. The 
evaluation also praised the programme’s community-led nature and its success in driving 
forward partnerships between social housing estates, within those estates and between 
communities and statutory agencies. 

 

The Shared 
Neighbourhood 
Programme

Pictured	are	Dr	Denis	Rooney	CBE,	
Chairman	of	the	International	Fund	for	

Ireland	and	the	then	Social	Development	
Minister,	Alex	Attwood	MLA,	on	the	

Springfield	Road	interface	in	Belfast,	
celebrating	the	Shared	Neighbourhood	
Programme	achieving	its	initial	aim	of	

developing	30	shared	neighbourhoods	over	
a	three	year	period.

42
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Drumcarran is a small housing estate on the outskirts of Enniskillen, County Fermanagh 
which is home to a mixed and diverse community of nearly 200 families.  

The estate joined the Shared 
Neighbourhood Programme 
in October 2010, providing the 
community with recognition for 
its shared status and resources to 
promote the shared living ethos to 
others. Having lived as a shared 
community for more than twenty 
years, the community wanted to take 
ownership of the shared agenda in 
their area and to help advance it to 
others more widely.  

Like many such areas, the estate 
had suffered from crime-related 
and serious anti-social behaviour 
problems. Some of these issues 
were often dealt with without the 
involvement of the police.

However, things began to change 
after the formation in 2006 of the 
Drumcarran Community Association 
which embraced the ethos of a 
shared future and began to deal with 
the long-term issues in a constructive 
way. The association built strong 
relationships with the Northern 
Ireland Housing Executive, the Police 
Service of Northern Ireland and other 
external agencies.

Changes in the policing approach 
and stronger community cohesion 
helped in dealing with anti-social 
behaviour. Improvements such as 
this encouraged the community 
association whose chairperson, 
Charlie McClintock, says: “When you 
change one thing you find it possible 
to change other things, too.”

After the community association was 
formed it carried out a community 
survey and with a response rate of 
60% generated one of the largest 
returns of any area in the Shared 
Neighbourhood Programme. Key 
findings were issued to all residents 
and the association produced a good 
relations action plan which focused 
on projects to demonstrate their 
commitment to good relations.  

A Community Intent
on Sharing 
Case study: Drumcarran Community Association.

From the outset the association 
realised that it needed to bring people 
together and to organise community 
events. According to those involved, 
there was a sense of community but it 
needed help and encouragement and 
everyone needed to play their part in 
the work required, not just a few.

The early stages were not easy. 
The community group was forced 
to rely on the same volunteers all 
the time. The community wasn’t 
used to democracy or to the 
responsibilities that flowed 
from their decision making. 

Charlie McClintock says they 
achieved a real breakthrough 
when the young people on the 
estate approached them about 
creating a football team. 

“We invited them to talk to the 
committee. They appointed 
a spokesperson and made a 
presentation about who they 
were and what they wanted and 
the committee agreed to support 
them - Drumcarran United or the 
Drummers was born,” he says.

“We work very hard at being a 
shared neighbourhood. We produce 
a monthly newsletter, hold an annual 
Christmas party for the children on 
the estate and organise an annual 
community day. We make sure we 
display what the association has 
done in the last year and what we 
hope to do in the future.“      

A Welcome Pack, which includes 
good neighbourhood agreements and 
community safety leaflets, is given to 
all new residents and the association 
asks them if they would like the 
community association to welcome 
them personally to the area.  

Plans currently in the pipeline include 
working with a local artist and local 
young people to create a unique bus 

shelter. It was one thing that was 
always vandalised but, by involving 
the children and their parents, the 
association hopes they will take pride 
both in it and in their community 
generally. There is also a plan to 
create a small play area for the 
children which would be developed 
and maintained by the community. 

Representatives from the community 
association now sit on the Housing 
Executive’s Housing Community 
Network Forum. Through Supporting 
Communities NI, they now also sit 
with neighbouring estate, Cavanaleck, 
on a newly formed joint interagency 
group to galvanise the ties between 
the two areas and further strengthen 
their commitment to good relations.   

“We work very 
hard at being 

a shared 
neighbourhood. 

We produce 
a monthly 

newsletter, 
hold an annual 

Christmas party 
for the children 

on the estate and 
organise an annual 

community day.”
 

Charlie McClintock,
Drumcarran 

Community Association.
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The Fund’s Sharing this Space Strategy identified the 
integration of community organisations as a key means 
of promoting social integration and reconciliation. 

The programme aims to encourage 
community organisations from 
each side of the community to work 
together in a spirit of co-operation. 
Where groups are already working 
together the programme aims to 
deepen the level of co-operation and 
encourage, if possible, a merger. For 
groups that come to the initiative 
without a partner the programme 
helps them to develop close links with 
a group from the other community.

The Integrating Community 
Organisations Programme

The programme offers training, 
support and mentoring for up to 12 
months to strengthen partnerships 
as well as creating opportunities for 
small joint projects that will bring 
mutual benefit to both groups and 
their respective areas. Following this, 
partnerships may seek funding for a 
larger scale project that will benefit all 
members of the partnership and the 
communities that they serve. 

Young	people	work	on	creating	the	central	characters	of	a	new	education	resource	pack	called	LongDivision	aimed	at	developing	
tolerance	and	understanding	of	others.	The	resource	pack	is	available	to	schools	and	clubs	across	Northern	Ireland.	LongDivision	
has	been	developed	as	part	of	a	larger	project	called	Age	Knows	No	Borders,	a	cross-border	cross-community	project	aimed	at	
strengthening	relations	between	the	three	communities	of	Belleek,	Kesh	and	Ballyshannon.
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“It’s only by 
understanding 

where we’ve 
come from 

that we can 
understand 

where we 
are going to.”

 

Wesley Tomb, 
Chairperson of KCA.

Carntogher and Kilcronaghan are two small rural communities situated just five miles 
apart in County Londonderry/Derry. Both areas were affected significantly by the 
mutual mistrust and sometimes hostility that developed during the Troubles. 

In 1992 the people of the mainly 
Nationalist Carntogher area set up 
a community association to promote 
the social, economic, environmental 
and cultural interests of the local 
community. In Kilcronaghan, a 
predominantly Unionist group also 
came together for the first time and 
formed a community association. 
The Fund previously assisted the 
Kilcronaghan group to develop a 
hostel facility.

Despite sectarian tensions in the 
area, the groups took steps towards 
engagement and arranged a number 
of joint social events which attracted 
members from both communities 
and helped them to build 
acquaintances that crossed the 
political and religious divide.

In 2009 Carntogher Community 
Association applied to the Fund 
for assistance in delivering a 
cross-community project in 
association with Kilcronaghan 
Community Association. The aim 
was to build on their achievements 
to date in a safe and controlled way. 
The groups wanted to bring the 
communities closer together, to 
deepen their understanding of each 
other and to address some of the 

differences that had arisen between 
the communities as a result of the 
years of conflict.

According to Niall O’Kane, 
Chairperson of Carntogher 
Community Association, the early 
partnership work laid the foundations 
that helped to build better relations 
between the two communities. 

He says: “Both groups are 
committed to this new process and 
we have embarked on the journey 
towards reconciliation and creating 
a better and more stable future for 
our younger generation.”

Wesley Tomb, Chairperson of 
Kilcronaghan Community Association, 
says: “The group is very happy with 
the way things are developing. 

“We’ve now planned and delivered a 
series of music and dance workshops, 
social events, study trips, discussion 
workshops and heritage walks 
which have allowed us to explore 
and begin to understand each other’s 
culture and backgrounds. It’s only 
by understanding where we’ve come 
from that we can understand where 
we are going to.”

Committed to a Shared Future 
Case study: Carntogher and Kilcronaghan.

Building Integration

	The	communities	of	Carntogher	and	
Kilcronaghan	in	County	Londonderry/

Derry	celebrate	the	launch	of	Reconciling	
Communities	Project	partly	funded	by	the	

International	Fund	for	Ireland.	Pictured	
at	the	old	ruins	of	Kilcronaghan	church	

from	left	to	right	are:	Niamh	Corey,	
St.	Patrick’s	College	Maghera;	Claire	

McKinney,	Rainey	Endowed	School	and	
BeicÍ	Nic	Ainmhire,	Bunscoil	Naomh	

Brid,	Tirkane.		
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Last year, Youth Work Ireland based in Castleblayney, County Monaghan, joined forces as 
lead partner with Dee Street Community Centre in East Belfast and the Clones Erne East 
Partnership on the Monaghan Fermanagh border, to deliver a youth-focused project. The 
Youth for Peace - Moving Forward Together Project as it is called, was designed to provide 
opportunities for contact and dialogue between young people aged 12-25, from Unionist 
and Nationalist backgrounds across the three areas/regions.

The project focuses on taking around 
130 young participants on a journey, 
challenging their current attitudes 
to and perceptions of each other 
and building positive relationships 
between their communities through 
exploration of their similarities and 
differences. Using a combination 
of single identity and joint activity, 
the young people on the project, 
equipped with the knowledge of their 
similarities and differences, challenge 
the barriers to reconciliation in 
order to create a shared vision of an 
interdependent and fair society.

The project also has an 
intergenerational dimension 
with many of the young people 
engaging with older people, 
including ex-prisoners, from their 
own community and the different 
communities in an attempt to further 
their understanding of the barriers 
to lasting peace and reconciliation.

The Youth for Peace - Moving Forward 
Together Project is taking place over 
a 22-month time period. A number 
of significant events have already 
taken place that have generated 
great feedback. Among these was 
the Peace through Exercise initiative, 
an event which culminated in 120 

On a Journey of Peace 
Case study: moving Forward Together.

people recycling old bicycles whilst 
sharing their experiences. In addition, 
45 cyclists travelled from Belfast to 
Kinnego camp site, from Cookstown 
to Dungannon, from Armagh to 
Monaghan, and from Clones to 
Lisnaskea and Enniskillen. Cyclists 
were hosted at receptions along the 
way and were escorted by the PSNI 
and An Garda Síochána respectively. 

This proved to be a very emotional 
time for the group of cyclists which 
was characterised by the bonds of 
teamwork and friendship that 
were formed, regardless of their 
age, religious, political or 
geographical background.

A real testament to the achievements 
of the project is best expressed 
through the brief words of one of the 
young Monaghan based participants:
“Everyone is really the same at the 
end of the day, we just need to see 
past the labels.”

“This has made a 
phenomenal difference, 

without the funding 
this project would not 
have been possible. To 

see the Peace Cycle 
sweeping down the hill 

into Monaghan town 
with over 40 cyclists 
including some local 

Councillors and a Garda 
Síochána escort was 

magnificent.” 

Mary	Lynch,	
Youth	Work	Ireland-Monaghan	

(lead	partner	group).

Moving	Forward	Together	Project	
participants	pictured	before	taking	to	the	

waters	for	one	of	the	team	building	events	
organised	as	part	of	the	project.
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Dr	Denis	Rooney	CBE,	Chairman	of	the	International	Fund	for	Ireland	and	Joan	Burney	Keatings,	Chief	Executive	of	Cinemagic,	
pictured	at	the	launch	of	the	Reel	Frontiers	Project,	one	of	the	Sharing	in	Education	Programme	projects.		It	brings	together	pupils	
from	Nationalist	and		Unionist	backgrounds	to	work	together,	learn	about	film	making	and	production,	share	experiences	and	make	
new	friends.	Also	pictured	from	left	are:	Broghan	McGinley	of	St	Rose’s	Dominican	College,	Belfast;	Megan	McCann	of	St	Rose’s	
Dominican	College,	Belfast;	and	Leonie	Dobson	of	Ashfield	Girls	School,	Belfast.
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Building 
Integration
During this financial year, the Fund committed 
financial assistance to the following projects: 

Integrating Community Organisations

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Ballymena Borough Council

Rasharkin Community Association 
& SNATCH
Main Street
Rasharkin.

A project to continue to build sustainable 
relationships between the young people in 
the village.

91,806

Limavady Borough Council

Gortnaghey Community Association 
& Burnfoot Community Development 
Association
Different-Same
Gortnaghey Road
Dungiven.

A project with emphasis on building the 
capacity to deliver structured youth, community 
development and capacity building activities in 
an integrated manner.

62,273

Name/Address Project Description SOUTH €

County Louth

Grange & District Residents 
Association & Bush Old School House 
Committee
Grange
Carlingford.

Grange and Bush peace building activities. 17,955

Name/Address Project Description NORTH/SOUTH £

Multiple Areas

Shared Training & Recreational 
Reconciliation (STARR) - Reach 
Across, Londonderry/Derry & Moville 
Resource Centre, Donegal
The Diamond
Londonderry/Derry.

A project using multiple activities to maximise 
cross-community, cross-border contact, 
shared learning and personal development 
amongst young people from recognised areas 
of disadvantage, interface areas or socially 
isolated areas.

100,624
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Name/Address Project Description NORTH/SOUTH €

Riverbrooke - Riverstown Enterprise 
Development (Sligo) Limited and
Brookeborough & District 
Community Development
Sligo Folk Park
Riverstown
Sligo.

Additional assistance towards the cross-border 
and cross-community project aimed at building 
relationships between communities in counties 
Sligo and Fermanagh.

149,310

Sharing in Education

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Belfast City Council Area

Learning to Live Together
Grahamsbridge Road
Dundonald.

A cross-community schools project which will 
engage 12 post-primary schools, clustered into 
pairs, and selected by the needs of the young 
people in disadvantaged areas.

672,000

Craigavon Borough Council

Primary Curriculum Partnership 
Programme
Brownstown Road
Portadown.

The project will provide teachers, in a range 
of cross-community settings, with skills and 
knowledge to tackle more difficult areas of 
the curriculum.

461,952

Derry City Council Area

Promoting Reconciliation Through 
a Shared Curriculum Experience
Temple Road
Strathfoyle
Londonderry/Derry.

A project designed to explore and evaluate the 
impact of cross-community contact in schools 
which will directly address areas of good 
relations and reconciliation.

450,200

Multiple Areas

Building New Communities Through 
Positive Parenting and Reconciliation
Grahamsbridge Road
Dundonald.

The project focuses on attitudinal and 
behavioural change for parents in deprived 
areas, providing the basis for positive cross-
community relationships between parents 
and the next generation of children.

980,000

Cinemagic Reel Frontiers
Botanic Avenue
Belfast.

To assist in the production of two short films 
based on the ideas and perceptions of young 
people aged between 11 and 13 dealing with 
division, conflict and neighbourhood issues.

317,311

Classrooms Re-imagined Education 
in Diversity and Inclusion for Teachers
Stranmillis Road
Belfast.

To provide substantive in-service courses for 
teachers to assist them in developing awareness 
and skills in dealing with division, diversity, 
inclusion and community relations 
and reconciliation in the classroom. 

839,589
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Distinctive Voices Collective Choices
Bishop Street
Londonderry/Derry.

A schools project which will use creative and 
interactive activities and discussions to challenge 
pre-conceptions of each community, looking 
at prejudice, peace, good relations and what 
Sharing in Education means.

230,101

Fostering Personal Development 
and Mutual Understanding 
Through Creativity
Cromore Road
Coleraine.

To develop and deliver a creative personal 
development, mutual understanding project, 
working with ten primary schools on a 
cross- community basis at foundation stage 
year one and two.

389,026

Partnership, Inclusion, Reconciliation, 
Citizenship and History Project 
(PIRCH)
Lough Road
Antrim.

The project seeks to allow six pairs of 
non-selective post-primary schools of 
differing religious traditions to form 
sustainable, collaborative working partnerships.

1,153,000

Sharing Classrooms Deepening 
Learning
University Road
Belfast.

Educators in Area Learning Communities will 
receive bespoke community good relations 
training to enable them to enhance the learning 
of young people from Nationalist and Unionist 
backgrounds.

702,790

Together through Culture
Queens Street
Belfast.

To encourage reconciliation between Unionists 
and Nationalists by bringing pupils from both 
traditions together to appreciate and discuss 
the Irish language and culture.

309,800

Sharing in Housing

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Re-imaging Communities Programme
Arts Council for Northern Ireland
Malone Road
Belfast.

A programme to contribute to the re-imaging 
of communities to change, over time, in order 
to make them more welcoming to all.

701,978

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Multiple Areas

Northern Ireland Housing Executive
Adelaide Street
Belfast.

Additional assistance for the Shared 
Neighbourhood Programme.

166,436
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Taking	part	in	a	Shared	Neighbourhood	
Programme	event,	County	Down.
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Leaving 
a Legacy

The Leaving a Legacy Programme is concerned with 
ensuring that the work of the Fund is sustainable and 
continues beyond the lifetime of the Fund. The Leaving 
a Legacy Programme is made up of two elements. 

Firstly, the Fund has been at the forefront of community relations 
and peace building for nearly 25 years and has, in recent years, 
been active in sharing its experiences with those regions of the world 
also dealing with conflict and the move towards a post conflict society. 
   
The second and much larger element of the programme is in identifying a small 
number of projects which by a combination of their scale - typically over £1m - 
their location, symbolism, and impact distinguish them as a significant project 
that will continue to sustain peace building and reconciliation long after the 
Fund ceases to exist. To date, over 20 projects throughout Ireland have been 
supported by the programme. 



53

Leaving a Legacy

Dr	Denis	Rooney	CBE,	Chairman	of	the	
International	Fund	for	Ireland,	welcomes	the	then	
President	of	Ireland,	Mrs	Mary	McAleese	and	her	

husband	Sen.	Martin	McAleese	to	the	Skainos	
Project	in	East	Belfast.	Skainos	is	an	urban	

regeneration	development	in	inner	East	Belfast,	
which	will	provide	shared	space	for	community	

transformation	and	renewal.	The	Fund	has	
contributed	nearly	£3million	towards	the	project.
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“While we 
experience real 

challenges we 
are committed

 to the young 
people of Lurgan 

and want to 
inspire them 

to reach their 
full potential.”

Hugo Dale, 
Chief Executive of 

Lurgan YMCA.

Lurgan in County Armagh remains a deeply divided town where violence 
is still evident and where there is mistrust between the two communities.

The Fund is providing £856,000 
towards a £1.5million project to 
bring the work of Lurgan YMCA from 
separate sites at each side of the 
interface area to one site with the 
construction of a new purpose built 
centre adjacent to the interface 
in Lurgan.   

The new premises will enable 
Lurgan YMCA to significantly 
increase its work with young people 
in the town and to help it deliver 
activities to tackle sectarianism 
and gang involvement and promote 
understanding between communities.

Hugo Dale, Chief Executive 
of Lurgan YMCA, commented: 
“The new facility will be pivotal 
in helping us to promote respect, 
inclusion and building peace and 
will make a significant difference to 
the area. It will enable us to build on 
our work, which has always had a 
cross-community agenda, and extend 
our reach within the community. 

Creating space for sharing 
and peace building  
Case study: Lurgan YmCA.

“Previously if we ran an after school 
drop-in session we could offer nothing 
else. The new premises will mean 
we can also run courses such as 
diversity and conflict management and 
leadership programmes and focus on 
becoming a real community facility for 
young people of all ages.     

“We will be able to develop our 
outreach work, including responding to 
requests from an increasing number of 
schools for community relations work. 
We now work with young people aged 
ten and upwards and run five after 
school drop-in sessions a week. This 
ensures we stay connected with the 
young people all the way through their 
adolescence using the arts, health and 
fitness, youth participation and 
leadership programmes.

“While we experience real challenges 
we are committed to the young people 
of Lurgan and want to inspire them 
to reach their full potential. By giving 
these young people opportunities 

we can channel their energy and 
help them to become strong advocates 
for change among their peers and give 
them confidence to lead fulfilling lives 
and make Lurgan a safer place for 
all to live.” 

Commenting on the Fund’s support 
for the project, Fund Chairman, Dr 
Denis Rooney CBE, said: “The Fund 
has worked with Lurgan YMCA over 
many years to support its cross-
community activity. We decided to help 
finance this development in particular 
because of the vital work it will deliver 
from its location on the interface in 
the town centre.”

Pictured	from	left	are:	Mr	Hugo	Dale,	Chief	
Executive	Lurgan	YMCA;	Dr	Denis	Rooney	
CBE,	Chairman	of	the	International	Fund	
for	Ireland;	John	O’Dowd	MLA,	Minister	
for	Education;	and	Mr	George	Emerson,	
Chairman	of	Lurgan	YMCA	at	the	site	of	
the	new	£1.5	million	YMCA	in	Lurgan.	
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Leaving 
a Legacy
 

Legacy Programme

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Belfast City Council Area

East Belfast Community 
Development Association
Templemore Avenue
Belfast.

The restoration of the former Templemore 
Avenue School to create a community 
networking centre which will provide a wide 
range of community facilities.

900,000

The Open Hands Centre
Northumberland Street
Shankill Road
Belfast.

Towards the cost of a three-year programme 
of community relations work.

97,000

Lisburn City Council Area

Youth Initiatives
Colin Road
Dunmurry.

Construction of a new fit for purpose cross-
community youth facility bordering Lisburn 
and West Belfast.

674,517

Derry City Council Area

Forum for Cities in Transition
St Columb’s Park House
Limavady Road
Londonderry/Derry.

To showcase 25 years of International Fund 
for Ireland peace building interventions at the 
Forum for Cities in Transition International 
Peace Building Conference.

39,950

Name/Address Project Description SOUTH €

County Donegal

Reconciliation through the Riverine
County House
Lifford.

To address the impact of the conflict on the 
Strabane/Lifford area and its hinterland by 
regenerating the border riverside area so as 
to create an iconic shared space as a lasting 
legacy of the Peace Process.

1,004,887



Annual Report & Accounts 2011

56

Pre 2006 
Programmes
These programmes are now closed to new applications. 
The existing projects listed below were awarded additional 
financial assistance during the financial year.

Community Regeneration & Improvement Special Programme (CRISP)

Name/Address Project Description NORTH £

Cookstown District Council Area

Pomeroy Community Projects
The Diamond
Pomeroy.

Additional financial assistance towards 
development assistance.

5,000

Stewartstown CRISP
Stewartstown.

Additional financial assistance towards the 
Environmental Improvement Scheme.

6,000

Fermanagh District Council Area

Brookeborough Enterprises Limited
Main Street
Brookeborough.

Additional financial assistance towards the 
Environmental Improvement Scheme to bring 
it up to a standard where it can be adopted for 
maintenance purposes.

2,985

Roslea CRISP
Monaghan Road
Roslea.

Additional financial assistance towards the 
Environmental Improvement Scheme.

3,373
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This summarised financial statement 
may not contain sufficient information 
to allow for a full understanding of the 
financial affairs of the International 
Fund for Ireland (“the Fund”) because 
they do not reflect the performance 
of the venture capital companies, 
which are wholly owned subsidiaries 
of the Fund. For further information 
the full annual financial statements, 
the auditors’ report on those financial 
statements and the board members’ 

Board Members’ Statement
annual report should be consulted; 
copies of these can be obtained from 
The International Fund for Ireland at 
either PO Box 2000, Belfast, BT4 2QY 
or PO Box 2000, Dublin 2.

The full annual financial statements, 
from which this summary financial 
statement is derived and on which the 
auditors gave an unqualified opinion, 
were approved on 23 February 2012.

We have examined the 
summary financial 
statement of The 
international Fund for 
ireland (“the Fund”). 

Respective responsibilities 
of board members and 
auditors

The board members are responsible 
for preparing the summarised annual 
report in accordance with applicable 
law. Our responsibility is to report to 
you our opinion on the consistency of 
the summary financial statement with 
the full annual financial statements 
and the Board members’ report. 
We also read the other information 
contained in the summarised annual 
report and consider the implications 
for our statement if we become aware 
of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with the 
summary financial statement. The 
maintenance and integrity of the 
Fund’s web site is the responsibility of 
the board members; the work carried 
out by the auditors does not involve 
consideration of these matters and, 

Independent Auditors’ Statement
accordingly, the auditors accept no 
responsibility for any changes that 
may have occurred to the full financial 
statements or the summary financial 
statement since they were initially 
presented on the web site.

This statement, including the opinion, 
has been prepared for, and only for, 
the Fund’s board members as a body 
and for no other purpose. We do 
not, in giving this opinion, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to 
whom this statement is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in 
accordance with Bulletin 1999/6, 
‘The auditors’ statement on the 
summary financial statement’ issued 
by the Auditing Practices Board 
for use in the United Kingdom and 
Ireland. Our report on the Fund’s full 
annual financial statements describes 
the basis of our audit opinion on those 
financial statements and the Board 
members’ report.

By order of the Board

D Rooney
Chairman
23rd February 2012

Opinion

In our opinion the summary financial 
statement is consistent with the full 
annual financial statements and 
the Board members’ report of The 
International Fund for Ireland for the 
year ended 30 September 2011.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered 
Auditors
Belfast
23rd February 2012
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Income and expenditure account

Total transactions expressed in £ and €

2011 2010 2011 2010

Notes £’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

income 2 1,386 22,400 1,592 26,008

Expenditure

Approved projects 1,7 27,471 20,059 31,573 23,289

Net administrative expenses 3 342 291 392 338

27,813 20,350 31,965 23,627

Excess of income over expenditure (26,427) 2,050 (30,373) 2,381

movement in the Fund balance

At 30 September 2010 66,411 65,033 84,613 80,330

Exchange differences on retranslation 
at 1 October 2010 1 109 (672) (2,074) 1,902

66,520 64,361 82,539 82,232

Excess of income over expenditure 
for the year (26,427) 2,050 (30,373) 2,381

At 30 September 2011 40,093 66,411 52,166 84,613

The amounts above relate to the continuing operations of the Fund. 
There is no difference between the excess of income over expenditure and its historical cost equivalent.
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Statement of total recognised gains and losses 

Total transactions expressed in £ and €

2011 2010 2011 2010

Notes £’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Excess of income over expenditure (26,427) 2,050 (30,373) 2,381

Currency translation difference 
charged to the Fund balance 1 109 (672) (2,074) 1,902

Total recognised gains and 
losses relating to the year (26,318) 1,378 (32,447) 4,283

Balance sheet

Total transactions expressed in £ and €

2011 2010 2011 2010

Notes £’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Fixed assets

Investments 4 19,206 22,206 28,162 32,390

Current assets

Cash at bank and on deposit 12 44,767 41,232 51,450 47,872

Donor contributions due within one year 5 36,980 62,873 42,502 72,997

Other amounts receivable 6 271 2,402 311 3,689

82,018 106,507 94,263 124,558

Creditors: amounts falling 
due within one year

Approved project expenditure 
outstanding 8 (60,955) (62,132) (70,056) (72,138)

Creditors 9 (176) (170) (203) (197)

(61,131) (62,302) (70,259) (72,335)

Net current assets 20,887 44,205 24,004 52,223

Net assets 40,093 66,411 52,166 84,613

Fund balance 40,093 66,411 52,166 84,613
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Cash flow statement

Total transactions expressed in £ and €

2011 2010 2011 2010

Notes £’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Net cash inflow from 
operating activities

Cash received from donor governments 25,945 31,822 29,819 36,946

Cash disbursements to projects, 
excluding accruals (28,770) (23,689) (33,065) (27,503)

Other cash payments (367) (206) (422) (239)

Interest received 611 467 702 542

Repayment of loan by IFI Financial 
Investments Limited 3,032 - 3,484 -

Other income 1 3 1 3

Net cash inflow from 
operating activities 11 452 8,397 519 9,749

Capital expenditure

Purchase of fixed assets investments - - - -

Sale of fixed assets investments 3,000 - 3,448 -

3,000 - 3,448 -

increase in cash in the year 12 3,452 8,397 3,967 9,749
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1. Accounting 
Policies
These financial statements 
are prepared on the going 
concern basis under the 
historical cost convention 
and in accordance with 
applicable accounting 
standards. The principal 
accounting policies are set 
out below. 

Currencies

The Fund’s transactions are effected 
in the currencies of each part of 
Ireland. The financial statements 
are presented in both currencies, 
each representing an aggregation of 
all of the transactions for the year 
in each part of Ireland translated at 
the respective exchange rates at the 
year end. Differences arising on the 
restatement, to the year end exchange 
rate, of monetary assets and liabilities 
(eg amounts due from funders, 
amounts due to projects and bank 
balances) at the start of the financial 
year are adjusted against the Fund 
balance, reported in the statement of 
total recognised gains and losses and 
accounted through reserves. 

Notes to the financial statements
Non-monetary assets (eg equity or 
debt investments in subsidiaries) 
are not subject to retranslation at 
each year end. However, any foreign 
exchange gains or losses arising on 
the disposal of non-monetary assets 
are recognised in the income and 
expenditure account in the period that 
they arise.

Approved projects

The income and expenditure 
account reflects the anticipated cost 
of projects approved in the year 
(after deduction of projects which 
did not proceed) and related 
administration expenditure. 
Project approvals which remain 
outstanding (ie which have not been 
disbursed to projects), are included in 
the balance sheet under liabilities. 

Loans

Funds disbursed to projects by way of 
loans are reflected in the total of the 
programme disbursements and are 
not included in the balance sheet. Any 
loan repayments received during the 
year are credited to the income and 
expenditure account.

Interest income

The income and expenditure account 
includes interest credited to the bank 
deposit accounts during the year 
together with interest accrued, but not 
actually credited, at the year end.

Investments

Fixed asset investments are stated 
at their purchase cost less any 
provision for diminution in value. 
Investment income is included in the 
income and expenditure account on 
an accruals basis.
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2. Income

Donor countries allocate funds on the basis of calendar years. The whole amount becoming due within each calendar year 
is recognised with the Funds accounts to 30 September without any timing adjustment.

The exchange losses arise from the translation of US$ and Euro denominated donor contributions. The exchange 
transaction losses consist of £187k/€215k realised gains and £294k/€338k unrealised losses. The extent to which any 
unrealised gain or loss is realised will depend on exchange rate movements up to the date of receipt of contributions due.

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

From donor governments after 
exchange rate adjustments

United States of America 
(2011:US$nil 2010:US$17m) - 10,757 -

12,489

European Union (2011 €nil 2010:€15m) - 12,920 - 15,000

Exchange (losses) (107) (1,626) (123) (1,887)

(107) 22,051 (123) 25,602

Interest receivable 686 346 788 403

Exchange gains on repayment of loan 807 - 927 -

Loan repayments - 1 - 1

Miscellaneous income - 2 - 2

1,386 22,400 1,592 26,008

3. Net administration expenses

Certain other expenses of the Fund, including accommodation and staff expenses, are met directly by the two governments 
and are not therefore reflected in these financial statements.

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Board members’ fees 102 99 117 115

Board meetings 26 13 29 15

Consultancy and other fees 266 233 305 270

Auditors’ remuneration - Audit 54 48 62 56

    - Other 21 11 24 13

Travelling and subsistence 30 30 34 35

Postage, stationery, telephone and office 24 21 28 24

Promotional and advertising expenses 114 108 131 125

Miscellaneous 24 31 29 37

661 594 759 690

Less: Contributions receivable from the
Governments of Ireland and the United Kingdom, 
in respect of certain of the above expenses (319) (303) (367) (352)

342 291 392 338
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4. Fixed asset investments

     Unlisted investment

£’000 €’000

Cost

At 1 October 2010 23,110 33,867

Additions - -

Disposals (3,000) (4,228)

At 30 September 2011 20,110 29,639

Depreciation

At 1 October 2010 904 1,477

Charge in year - -

Provision for impairment of unlisted subsidiary - -

At 30 September 2011 904 1,477

Net book value 

At 30 September 2011 19,206 28,162

At 30 September 2010 22,206 32,390

5. Donor contributions due within one year

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

United States of America

- 2010 (US$17m) 10,878 9,033 12,502 10,488

- 2009 (US$15m) - 9,492 - 11,020

- 2008 (US$6.11m ) - 5,588 - 6,489

European Union

- 2010 (€15m) 13,051 12,920 15,000 15,000

- 2009 (€15m) 13,051 12,920 15,000 15,000

- 2008 (€15m) - 12,920 - 15,000

36,980 62,873 42,502 72,997
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6. Other amounts receivable

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Loan to IFI Financial Investments Limited - 2,239 - 3,500

Government contributions 50 18 57 21

Bank interest receivable (note 2) 221 145 254 168

271 2,402 311 3,689

7. Approved project expenditure outstanding

The totals of the Fund’s project disbursements in the year ended 30 September 2011 and the movements in approved 
projects outstanding are as follows:

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Approved project expenditure outstanding 
at 30 September 2010 (retranslated 
to current exchange rates) 62,254 65,762 71,548 76,352

Project approvals in the year 27,471 20,059 31,573 23,289

Project disbursements in the year (28,770) (23,689) (33,065) (27,503)

Approved project expenditure 
outstanding at 30 September 2011 60,955 62,132 70,056 72,138

An analysis of these totals by expenditure programme is included in Appendix 1.
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8. Cumulative approved projects and disbursements to date

Cumulatively, the totals of the Fund’s approved projects and project disbursements to date are summarised:

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Total approved projects to date 695,154 667,561 869,447 838,464

Less contributions to investment companies (27,142) (27,142) (40,023) (40,023)

668,012 640,419 829,424 798,441

Total disbursements to projects 
and administration costs to date (607,057) (578,287) (759,368) (726,303)

Approved project expenditure 
outstanding at 30 September 2011 60,955 62,132 70,056 72,138

To date the Fund has approved total payments in respect of specific projects and administration costs to a total of 
£695/€869million after deduction of approved projects which did not proceed.

The approved project expenditure outstanding at 30 September 2011 reported in the balance sheet represents the 
unspent balance of the projects approved for which a claim for payment of grant has yet to be received.

9. Creditors

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Accruals 143 128 165 148

Deferred income 33 42 38 49

176 170 203 197

10. Loans

The aggregate of euro denominated loans made by the Fund and outstanding at 30 September 2011 amounted to €230k 
(2010 €230k). The equivalent sterling value as translated at the relevant year end rate amounted to £200k (2010 £198k).
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2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Total approved projects to date 695,154 667,561 869,447 838,464

Less contributions to investment companies (27,142) (27,142) (40,023) (40,023)

668,012 640,419 829,424 798,441

Total disbursements to projects 
and administration costs to date (607,057) (578,287) (759,368) (726,303)

Approved project expenditure 
outstanding at 30 September 2011 60,955 62,132 70,056 72,138

11. Net cash flow from operating activities

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Excess of income over expenditure (26,427) 2,050 (30,373) 2,381

Decrease in donor contributions due 25,893 10,891 30,496 7,481

(Decrease) in approved project 
expenditure outstanding (1,177) (4,439) (2,082) (492)

Decrease in other amounts receivable 2,131 172 3,377 335

Increase in creditors 6 29 6 43

426 8,703 1,424 9,748

Exchange difference 26 (306) (905) 1

Net cash inflow from operating activities 452 8,397 519 9,749

12. Analysis of changes in cash

2011 2010 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 €’000 €’000

Balance at 1 October 2010 41,232 33,201 47,872 36,222

Retranslation to current year exchange rates 83 (366) (389) 1,901

Balance at 1 October 2010 retranslated 
to current year exchange rates 41,315 32,835 47,483 38,123

Net cash inflow 3,452 8,397 3,967 9,749

Balance at 30 September 2011 44,767 41,232 51,450 47,872
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Analysis of programme disbursements for the year and 
of approved projects outstanding at 30 September 2011

Approved projects
outstanding at
30 September 

2010

Project 
approvals and 

administration
costs

Project and
administration
disbursements

Approved projects
outstanding at
 30 September 

2011

Expressed in £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Building Foundations

Community based economic and social 
regeneration 16,179 6,977 (6,292) 16,864

Communities in transition 1,456 543 (452) 1,547

Community leadership 1,622 (305) (636) 681

AMBIT 105 61 (72) 94

Building Bridges

Community bridges 7,606 2,725 (3,397) 6,934

KEY 1,820 2,569 (1,273) 3,116

LET 1,167 1,538 (780) 1,925

Wider horizons 1,172 4,026 (4,074) 1,124

GRIT 192 - (38) 154

KEY start 66 - (26) 40

Building integration

Sharing education 9,389 6,785 (2,448) 13,726

Integrating housing 550 702 (264) 988

Integrating communities 2,710 361 (1,003) 2,068

Respecting difference 624 - - 624

Border towns and villages (12) (117) (129)

Leaving a Legacy

Capital projects 9,504 1,734 (1,827) 9,411

Pre 2006 programmes 8,092 (233) (6,071) 1,788

62,254 27,471 (28,770) 60,955

The above totals of approved project expenditure outstanding at 30 September 2010 differ from the balances shown in the 
balance sheet at that date as a result of their retranslation at current year end exchange rates.

Appendix 1
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Analysis of programme disbursements for the year and 
of approved projects outstanding at 30 September 2011

Approved projects
outstanding at
30 September 

2010

Project 
approvals and 

administration
costs

Project and
administration
disbursements

Approved projects
outstanding at
 30 September 

2011

Expressed in a’000 a’000 a’000 a’000 a’000

Building Foundations

Community based economic and social 
regeneration 18,595 8,018 (7,231) 19,382

Communities in transition 1,673 624 (519) 1,778

Community leadership 1,864 (350) (730) 784

AMBIT 121 70 (83) 108

Building Bridges

Community bridges 8,741 3,132 (3,904) 7,969

Key 2,092 2,953 (1,464) 3,581

LeT 1,341 1,768 (896) 2,213

Wider horizons 1,346 4,627 (4,682) 1,291

GRIT 221 - (44) 177

Key start 76 - (30) 46

Building Integration

Sharing education 10,791 7,798 (2,813) 15,776

Integrating housing 632 807 (303) 1,136

Integrating communities 3,114 415 (1,153) 2,376

Respecting difference 717 - - 717

Border towns and villages - (14) (135) (149)

Leaving a Legacy

Capital projects 10,923 1,993 (2,100) 10,816

Pre 2006 programmes 9,301 (268) (6,978) 2,055

71,548 31,573 (33,065) 70,056

The above totals of approved project expenditure outstanding at 30 September 2010 differ from the balances shown in the 
balance sheet at that date as a result of their retranslation at current year end exchange rates.

Appendix 1



Australia

The European Union

Canada

The United States 
of America

New Zealand

We remain grateful to our international donors for their support 
and encouragement. With contributions from the United States 
of America, the European Union, Canada, Australia, and New 
Zealand, the total resources committed by the Fund to date 
amount to £695million/€869million.


